FILED 06-03-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 23-AP-645

v.

Rock County 16-CF-26

CARL LEE MCADORY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER CARL LEE MCADORY

ON PETITION FROM THE APRIL 11, 2024 OPINION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV Rock County Circuit Court Case No. 16-CF-26 Hon. John W. Wood and Hon. Karl R. Hanson

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner Carl Lee McAdory:

Simerson Law LLC

INTRODUCTION

Respectfully, the Court should review this case as it presents novel legal issues of statutory and constitutional importance. Mr. McAdory was charged with and later found guilty of two alternative forms of OWI liability under Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1): [count one] operating while under the influence (§ 346.63(1)(a)), and [count two] operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration (§ 346.63(1)(am)). Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) explains in relevant part that, "[i]f the person is found guilty of any combination of par. (a), (am), or (b) . . . , there shall be a single conviction" Prior to sentencing, the State moved to have count two dismissed, which was granted, and Mr. McAdory was convicted and sentenced on count one. He appealed.

The Court of Appeals reversed the conviction on count one, concluding in a published opinion that an instruction that the Circuit Court read to the jury relating to operating while under the influence was confusing such that it violated Mr. McAdory's due process rights. It remanded the case to the Circuit Court to convene a new trial on count one.

After remittitur, the State moved, in effect, to reopen the judgment of conviction, vacate the order dismissing count two, and reinstate and convict Mr. McAdory on count two. The State conceded that nothing in Wisconsin law authorized the Circuit Court to order this relief. Its sole support was an unrelated opinion from the Seventh Circuit, applying federal law.

The Circuit Court granted the motion. It, too, admitted that nothing in Wisconsin law authorized it to order the requested relief, also citing the unrelated Seventh Circuit opinion.

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 5 of 34

After his postconviction motion was denied, Mr. McAdory appealed again. He argued that the Circuit Court lacked the authority to reopen the judgment of conviction, vacate the order dismissing count two (which was, presumably, with prejudice as jeopardy had long since attached), and reinstate and convict Mr. McAdory on count two. If the State wanted to preserve its ability to have him convicted on count two, then it should have just waited until he had exhausted his appeal rights before choosing to dismiss a count as Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) requires.

Mr. McAdory also argued that, if, in the event Mr. McAdory succeeded in having his conviction on count one reversed, the State wished to have the dismissal order vacated and the judgment reopened and modified to convict him on count two, then it should have either cross-appealed as required by Wis. Stat. Rule 809.10(2)(b)—"[a] respondent who seeks a modification of the judgment or order appealed from or of another judgment or order entered in the same action or proceeding shall file a notice of cross-appeal within the period established by law for the filing of a notice of appeal"—or, at the very least, raised the issue as an alternate ground for relief in briefing during Mr. McAdory's first appeal.¹

-

In fact, the State informed the Court of Appeals during Mr. McAdory's first appeal that it intended to have him convicted on count two, if his appeal of his conviction on count one succeeded. This occurred during oral arguments, which the Court of Appeals convened based on its concern that, if it reversed the conviction on count one, the State might turn around and, after remittitur, demand that the Circuit Court reinstate and convict Mr. McAdory on count two. During the arguments, the State revealed its plan to pursue Mr. McAdory's conviction on count two if count one's conviction was overturned. In response, the Court of Appeals panel chided the State for not having appealed or raised the issue in its earlier briefing, and questioned whether such relief was lawful at all. (See, e.g., R.270 [P-App] at 61 [104] ("So we have an order from Judge Wood saying that charge is dismissed. Have you appealed that?"), 62 [104] ("[T]ell me why you didn't raise this, why we had to raise it if it's so important."), 63 [104] ("Under what authority could Judge Wood reopen if that, if that's the correct term[?]"), 64 [104] ("So if the problem is the case law, why didn't you appeal?"), 65-66 [105]

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 6 of 34

Finally, he argued that the Circuit Court could not—consistent with the rules of appellate procedure, the double jeopardy clause, and the defendant's interest in the finality of judgments—issue a post-remittitur order reinstating a count that the State had dismissed with prejudice and after jeopardy attached.

In the Opinion below, which has since been published, the Court of Appeals rejected these arguments and concluded that the Circuit Court had the authority to do what it did. As to the source of this authority, however, it did not follow the Circuit Court's reasoning. Nor did it accept the State's arguments or rationale. Instead, the Court of Appeals affirmed based on a novel interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c).

While the parties, the Circuit Court, and the case law have interpreted the relevant portion of § 346.63(1)(c)-"[i]f the person is found guilty of any combination of par. (a), (am), or (b) . . . , there shall be a single conviction"—to have a clear, singular meaning (i.e., that even if a defendant is found guilty under more than one of § 346.63(1)'s paragraphs, he or she is convicted but once), the Court of Appeals held that that same language not only has a different meaning (i.e., "when there is more than one [§ 346.63(1)] guilty verdict, only one can serve as the count for purposes of conviction and sentencing, and all other § 346.63(1) counts are to be dismissed"), but that it is susceptible to no other meaning. (COA Op. ¶¶ 16-17, pp. 7-8; P-App 007-008.)

_

^{(&}quot;[Y]our position would be when you, if you lose, when that happens and . . . we issue an opinion that says that there was a problem . . . , you would just go back to Judge Wood and . . . say, okay, well, that's fine, Judge, no worries because you have authority to reinstate the 1, sub 1, sub am, conviction."), 73 [107] ("But yet you, you haven't briefed it. I mean you're talking to us now, we appreciate that, but yet you haven't briefed it. If it was that important, why wouldn't it be somewhere, something in the record other than, than, than this court raising it. Why, why wouldn't we say that at this point it's forfeited?").)

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 7 of 34

Based on its interpretation of § 346.63(1)(c), the Court of Appeals concluded that circuit courts may reopen judgments of conviction, un-dismiss counts, and substitute one § 346.63(1) count for another to serve as the basis for the conviction. Additionally, it held that the State could not have cross-appealed or argued for a conviction on count two in its briefing because the Court of Appeals now insists that, in Mr. McAdory's first appeal, "the State had no interest in modification of any judgment or order." (Id. ¶ 36, p. 18; P-App 018.) No mention is made of the oral arguments. The Court of Appeals also rejected Mr. McAdory's arguments regarding appellate procedure, double jeopardy, and his interest in the finality of judgments.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Does Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) grant circuit courts the post-remittitur authority to reopen judgments of conviction, vacate post-jeopardy orders dismissing § 346.63(1) counts at the State's request, and reinstate and convict defendants on those counts?

METHOD OR MANNER OF RAISING THE ISSUE: The Court of Appeals raised this issue for the first time in its Opinion below.

ANSWERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT: Implicitly, no. The Circuit Court conceded, *inter alia*, that "[n]o law under ch. 346, Stat., or any other chapter, authorizes the court to reinstate a previously-dismissed RCS charge when an OWI conviction is later vacated." (R.279 at 9; P-App 075.)

MR. MCADORY'S POSITION BELOW: Implicitly, no.

ANSWERED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS: Yes.

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 8 of 34

2. When a defendant appeals from a judgment of conviction, seeking to have his conviction on a count reversed, the State becomes a respondent on appeal. If, in the event the defendant's appeal succeeded, the State wished to have an order dismissing a different count vacated and further wished to have the judgment of conviction reopened and modified to have the defendant convicted on the previously-dismissed count, must the State have filed a notice of cross appeal under Wis. Stat. Rule 809.10(2)(b)? Alternatively, must the State have raised this request as an alternate ground for relief in its briefing on the defendant's appeal, as provided in *State v. Alles*, 106 Wis. 2d 368, 390-91, 316 N.W.2d 378 (1982)?

METHOD OR MANNER OF RAISING THE ISSUE: Mr. McAdory raised this issue during postconviction proceedings before the Circuit Court and then, having further developed the argument, presented it on appeal before the Court of Appeals.

ANSWERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT: Did not address.

MR. MCADORY'S POSITION BELOW: Yes.

ANSWERED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS: No.

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 9 of 34

3. Can a circuit court reinstate a count on which the defendant was found guilty but which the State moved to have dismissed after jeopardy attached, consistent with the defendant's protections against double jeopardy and his interest in the finality of judgments?

METHOD OR MANNER OF RAISING THE ISSUE: Mr. McAdory raised this issue during postconviction proceedings before the Circuit Court and then on appeal before the Court of Appeals.

ANSWERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT: Yes.

MR. MCADORY'S POSITION ON APPEAL: No.

ANSWERED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS: Yes.

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 10 of 34

REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW

"[S]pecial and important reasons" exist to grant this petition. See Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r). Two such reasons stand out. First, this petition raises a real and significant question concerning the prohibition against double jeopardy under the federal and state constitutions. See U.S. Const. amend. V; Wis. Const. Art. I, § 8; Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(a). Clearly, reinstating a count that was previously dismissed at the State's behest after jeopardy had attached is a serious challenge to this constitutional constraint on government power.

Second, this petition offers the Court an opportunity to develop, clarify, and harmonize the law for the reasons specified in § 809.62(1r)(c). If granted, the Court could resolve the unsettled question of how the State and circuit courts should approach guilty verdicts under more than one subpart of § 346.63(1)—a situation that frequently occurs, and is certain to recur, in courtrooms statewide. This is a question of law that would require the Court to develop a new doctrine and harmonize past case law on § 346.63(1).

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 11 of 34

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In its 2021 Opinion, the Court of Appeals provided a detailed summary of the underlying facts. *See State v. McAdory*, 2021 WI App 89, ¶¶ 1, 3, 6-16, 400 Wis. 2d 215, 968 N.W.2d 770 (P-App 025, 027-033). Then, in its recent Opinion, the Court of Appeals provided a thorough description of the procedural posture of this case. *See State v. McAdory*, 2024 WI App 29, ¶¶ 2-4, 6-11, _ Wis. 2d __, _ N.W.2d _ (P-App 002-006). Because the Court of Appeals has done good work outlining the background of this case, this section will focus on more minor, yet still important, aspects that these Opinions overlooked.

A. Nature of the Case

Mr. McAdory was charged with and found guilty on counts one and two, both OWI-related offenses. Prior to sentencing, the Circuit Court dismissed count two at the State's request, instead convicting and sentencing Mr. McAdory on count one. He appealed. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed his conviction on count one and remanded for a new trial. Instead of holding one, the Circuit Court granted the State's motion to reopen the judgment of conviction, vacate the order dismissing count two, reinstate count two, and convict Mr. McAdory on the same. He moved for postconviction relief which was denied. He again appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed in a now-published opinion.

B. Mr. McAdory's First Appeal, Oral Arguments, and the First Published Opinion

The Opinion below did not relate much about Mr. McAdory's first appeal. There are a few points worthy of mention.

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 12 of 34

On December 2, 2020, Mr. McAdory appealed from the judgment of conviction on count one, thus commencing Appeal No. 20-AP-2001. (R.191.) However, the State did not file a notice of cross appeal from which it could seek to vacate the order dismissing count two and modify the judgment of conviction to have Mr. McAdory convicted on count two.

In its response brief before the Court of Appeals, the State mentioned that the Circuit Court dismissed count two upon the State's motion, citing Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c). (State's Resp. Br. at 4-5.)² However, it did not seek to have count two reinstated so that it could serve as an alternate basis on which to affirm the judgment of conviction. Nor did it, at the very least, mention that, if Mr. McAdory's appeal succeeded, it planned to request after remittitur that he be convicted on count two.

Importantly, on October 6, 2021, oral arguments were held before a panel of Court of Appeals judges from District IV. (R.270; P-App 088-133.)³ A substantial portion of the arguments focused on count two's dismissal. In that regard, the panel discussed the following topics with counsel:

- That case law required the State to dismiss one of the two counts of which Mr. McAdory was found guilty;
- That Mr. McAdory had not been convicted on count two;

² Electronic copies of the appellate briefs from 20-AP-2001 are publicly available through the Wisconsin Court System website, https://wscca.wicourts.gov/.

³ Undersigned counsel acquired a copy of the recording of the oral arguments from the Clerk of the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court. He then retained a court reporter to transcribe the recording. A copy of the transcript was filed with the Circuit Court and described in Mr. McAdory's amended postconviction brief and, later, in his appellate briefs.

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 13 of 34

• That no legal authority exists to reinstate count two on remand;

- That the State neither appealed from nor raised the issue of count two's dismissal in its appellate briefing;
- That the State may have, therefore, forfeited its ability to even attempt to obtain relief from the order dismissing count two;
- That the State had unwisely chosen to dismiss count two and convict on count one; and
- That the double jeopardy clause may bar any attempt by the State to revive count two.

(See P-App 105-106, 108-109, 111-112.)

In its November 18, 2021 published Opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed the conviction and remanded for a new trial on count one. It concluded that, with respect to count one, "there is a reasonable likelihood that the State was effectively relieved of its burden to prove that McAdory was 'under the influence' of cocaine and marijuana while driving." *McAdory*, 400 Wis. 2d 215, ¶ 2; (P-App 026-027). Consequently, it "reverse[d] the judgment of conviction for a violation of § 346.63(1)(a) based on a violation of McAdory's right to due process" and "remand[ed] for a new trial on the § 346.63(1)(a) charge." *Id.* ¶ 71; (P-App 062).

Although the Opinion did not address the Circuit Court's post-remittitur authority or Mr. McAdory's privilege against double jeopardy, the Court of Appeals noted "that the issues we address in this appeal would not have arisen if the State had instead elected to dismiss the impaired-by-drugs offense and asked the circuit court to proceed to sentencing on the strict liability offense." *Id.* ¶ 1 n.2; (P-App 026).

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 14 of 34

C. The Circuit Court Decisions Versus the Court of Appeals' Opinion Below, on the Question of Legal Authority for the Circuit Court's Actions

The Opinion below did not focus on the Circuit Court's decisions in any meaningful way. This is likely because, although the Circuit Court and Court of Appeals arrived at the same conclusions, they did so for far different reasons.

The Circuit Court issued two decisions: one granting the State's motion to reinstate and convict Mr. McAdory on count two, (R.219 [P-App 063-066]), and the other denying Mr. McAdory's motion for postconviction relief, (R.279 [P-App 067-080]). It would be fair to say that the latter decision is a broader, more developed version of the former. Accordingly, this subsection will focus primarily on the Circuit Court's decision denying postconviction relief.

There, the Circuit Court, unlike the Court of Appeals, agreed with the observations of both Mr. McAdory and the State that no Wisconsin statute—from ch. 346 or elsewhere—gave it the post-remittitur authority to reinstate the previously-dismissed count two and convict Mr. McAdory on the same. (P-App 075; see also P-App 063-064.) And while the Circuit Court, the Court of Appeals, and the State all agreed that § 346.63(1)(c) did not *prohibit* the Circuit Court's actions, (P-App 073-075, COA Op. ¶¶ 18-21, pp. 9-11 [P-App 009-011], State's COA Resp. Br. at 14-16), the Court of Appeals went one step further than Mr. McAdory, the State, and the Circuit Court were willing to go, concluding that Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) clearly authorized the Circuit Court's actions and that it would be unreasonable to interpret the statute differently, (COA Op. ¶¶ 16-17, pp. 7-8 [P-App 007-008]).

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 15 of 34

The Circuit Court and the State asserted that circuit courts possess the inherent authority to reinstate previously-dismissed count following remittitur so long as they were not explicitly prohibited from doing so and so long as the defendant had no expectation of finality in the dismissal. (P-App 075-080, State's COA Resp. Br. at 11-13, R.216 at 2-4, R.203 at 2.) Both cited *Rutledge v. United States*, 230 F.3d 1041 (7th Cir. 2000), for support. (P-App 076-077, R.216 at 3-4, R.203 at 2; see also P-App 064-065.) In *Rutledge*, the Seventh Circuit relied on 28 U.S.C. § 2255⁴ to affirm a district court's order reinstating a previously-vacated, lesser-included conviction following the vacation of the greater-included conviction. (Id.)

The Circuit Court also raised the merger doctrine adopted by the Kansas state judiciary. (P-App 077-079.) According to its decision, "[t]he doctrine of merger allows that if a jury returns verdicts on multiplicitous charged counts, merger of those offenses should apply and the court should only enter a conviction for one verdict." (P-App 077.) The Circuit Court explained that, even though Wisconsin had not adopted the merger doctrine, its existing scheme is tantamount to merger. (P-App 078-079.) Ultimately, it reasoned that, not only does nothing in Wisconsin law "suggest a trial court is barred from reinstating a RCS verdict or conviction, where a jury returned a verdict of guilt on that count, but it was dismissed when the court entered judgment on an OWI verdict of guilt[,]" but cases like *Rutledge* "suggest that a court is permitted to reinstate a dismissed count or conviction under such circumstances." (P-App 079.)

⁴ "Section 2255 permits a federal trial court to vacate and set a judgment aside and resentence a defendant, grant him a new trial, or correct a sentence as may appear appropriate, when the conviction is open to collateral attack or is the product of a constitutional rights violation." (P-App 076-077 (citing 28 U.S.C. § 2255).)

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 16 of 34

The Court of Appeals refused to adopt a ruling that the Circuit Court's actions were authorized by its inherent powers. Instead, it "assume[d] without deciding that this inherent authority does not provide justification for the circuit court's actions here[,]" instead "conclud[ing] that the court properly applied pertinent statutes," including, most importantly, § 346.63(1)(c). (Op., ¶ 18 n.6, p. 9 [P-App 009].)

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO CLARIFY THE PROPER INTRETATION AND SCOPE OF WIS. STAT. § 346.63(1)(c) AND GUIDE LOWER COURTS ON WHAT TO DO WHEN GUILTY VERDICTS ARE RETURNED UNDER MULTIPLE SUBPARTS OF § 346.63(1).

The Court should grant this petition to resolve the unsettled question of how courts are to proceed when facing guilty verdicts on multiple § 346.63(1) counts. Mr. McAdory's position is that the Opinion below, now published, is deeply flawed. Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) doesn't say, and cannot be contorted to mean, that circuit courts can reinstate counts that they dismissed postverdict at the State's request. As explained in the third argument section below, such a dismissal is with prejudice as a matter of law, implicating the defendant's expectation of finality in the dismissal as well as his right against double jeopardy.

Wisconsin's comprehensive intoxicated driving law, Wis. Stat. § 346.63, provides for three OWI-related offenses:

OPERATING UNDER INFLUENCE OF INTOXICANT OR OTHER DRUG.

(1) No person may drive or operate a motor vehicle while:

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 17 of 34

(a) Under the influence of an intoxicant, a controlled substance, a controlled substance analog or any combination of an intoxicant, a controlled substance and a controlled substance analog, under the influence of any other drug to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving, or under the combined influence of an intoxicant and any other drug to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving; or

- (am) The person has a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood.
- (b) The person has a prohibited alcohol concentration.

§ 346.63(1)(a)-(b).

Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) instructs that a defendant may be charged, tried, and found guilty of any one or combination of the three offenses arising out of a single incident or occurrence; however, whether guilty of one or more such offenses, the defendant may incur no more than one conviction:

(c) A person may be charged with and a prosecutor may proceed upon a complaint based upon a violation of any combination of par. (a), (am), or (b) for acts arising out of the same incident or occurrence. If the person is charged with violating any combination of par. (a), (am), or (b), the offenses shall be joined. If the person is found guilty of any combination of par. (a), (am), or (b) for acts arising out of the same incident or occurrence, there shall be a single conviction for purposes of sentencing and for purposes of counting convictions under ss. 343.30 (1q) and 343.305. Paragraphs (a), (am), and (b) each require proof of a fact for conviction which the others do not require.

(Emphasis added).

The Opinion below believed that this provision authorized the Circuit Court's actions. The Court should grant this petition to clarify that it does not. Not only does § 346.63(1)(c) not authorize what the Circuit Court did, but nothing does. But, as explained below, there is

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 18 of 34

a simple way to approach guilty verdicts under multiple subparts of § 346.63(1) without dismissing any counts. Regardless, the Court should grant this petition to give guidance to lower courts in a manner that does not disrupt settled law and muddy the waters of statutory construction.

A. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) Cannot be Reconciled with the Canons of Statutory Construction and Does Not, In Any Event, Support Its Ultimate Holding.

The Court of Appeals' solution to the problem of guilty verdicts on multiple § 346.63(1)(c) counts is both deficient and insufficient. It is deficient because it misapplies the rules of statutory construction and, effectively, rewrites § 346.63(1)(c). It is insufficient because, even if its interpretation was reasonable, it wouldn't authorize the Circuit Court to do what it did in this case.

"[S]tatutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain," that "ordinarily stop[s] the inquiry." *State v. Kizer*, 2022 WI 58, ¶ 6, 403 Wis. 2d 142, 976 N.W.2d 356.

The relevant portion of § 346.63(1)(c) — "[i]f the person is found guilty of any combination of par. (a), (am), or (b) . . . , there shall be a single conviction" — certainly appears to have a singular meaning: Even if the defendant is found guilty under more than one of § 346.63(1)'s paragraphs, he or she is convicted but once.

Indeed, in the first McAdory opinion, the Court of Appeals made that point clear: "Under the statutory dual prosecution scheme, in this situation there can be only one conviction, not two." McAdory, 400 Wis. 2d 215, ¶ 1 (citing § 346.63(1)(c)) (P-App 025-026); see also

Case 2023AP000645 Petition for Review Filed 06-03-2024 Page 19 of 34

State v. Braunschweig, 2018 WI 113, ¶ 16, 384 Wis. 2d 742, 921 N.W.2d 199 ("Convictions of both [§ 346.63(1)(a) and (1)(b)] . . . count as only one conviction" (citing § 346.63(1)(c)); State v. Bohacheff, 114 Wis.2d 402, 413, 338 N.W.2d 466 (1983) (Interpreting § 346.63(1)(c), "it is evident that the legislature intended a prosecution . . . to terminate with one conviction for all purposes.").

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