Case 2023AP000645

**FILED** 06-13-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2023AP645-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CARL LEE MCADORY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7081 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kellisjw@doj.state.wi.us

### INTRODUCTION

The State opposes Carl Lee McAdory's petition for review. The court of appeals applied established Wisconsin and United States Supreme Court precedent when it rejected McAdory's challenge to the circuit court's post-remittitur actions and his corollary claim that the circuit court's actions violated his right to be free from double jeopardy. State v. McAdory, 2024 WI App 29. (Pet-App. 3–24.) Should this Court disagree and grant review, however, the State respectfully requests that this Court overrule the authority that provoked the peculiar procedural history underlying this appeal: Town of Menasha v. Bastian, 178 Wis. 2d 191, 195, 503 N.W.2d 382 (Ct. App. 1993).

## **DISCUSSION**

This Court should deny McAdory's petition for review for two reasons.

First, the court of appeals' published opinion is well-reasoned and consistent with Wisconsin and United States Supreme Court precedent. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d).

Starting with McAdory's challenge to the circuit court's post-remittitur actions, the court of appeals correctly determined that the circuit court "had authority to take, and was not barred from taking," certain post-remittitur actions after McAdory's first appeal and his only trial. (Pet-App. 5.) These actions included reopening McAdory's judgment of conviction for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant ("OWI"), dismissing that OWI charge in lieu of retrying it, and entering judgment on a charge of operating a motor vehicle with a restricted controlled substance in his blood ("RCS") for which the jury returned a guilty verdict at his earlier trial. (Pet-App. 5, 8–9.)

The court made several key observations supporting that decision. It noted that Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) permits

Case 2023AP000645

the State to file a criminal complaint charging a defendant with a combination of related traffic offenses "for acts arising out of the same incident or occurrence," including operating while under the influence of an intoxicant, operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, and operating with a restricted controlled substance in one's blood. (Pet-App. 8–9.) And it also recognized that Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) mandates "a single conviction for purposes of sentencing and counting convictions" when a defendant is charged and found guilty of more than one of those charges. (Pet-App. 9.)

More importantly, the court astutely observed that "the somewhat sparse language of" Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) "does not explicitly address the procedures to be used to accomplish the result of a single conviction." (Pet-App. 8–9.) Absent that statutory direction, the court turned to its own precedent, which interpreted Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) "to mean that 'the defendant is to be sentenced on one of the charges, and the other charge is to be dismissed." (Pet-App. 9 (quoting *Bastian*, 178 Wis. 2d at 195).) Read in concert with *Bastian*, the court aptly concluded that Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) "implicitly authorizes circuit courts, in the procedural posture here, to accomplish the intended goal of a single conviction" by the actions taken in McAdory's case. (Pet-App. 11.)

Turning to his remaining claim, the court correctly held that McAdory could not show that the circuit court's actions which he challenged fell "within any of the three categories of prohibited practices created by the Double Jeopardy Clause, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court," namely "a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal," "a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction," or "multiple punishments for the same offense." (Pet-App. 21–22) (quoting North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969), overruled on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith, 490 U.S. 794, 798 (1989)).) Having so decided, the court rejected each of McAdory's arguments concerning his purported expectation

of finality in the dismissal of his RCS charge after his trial and his position that his RCS charge could not be revived as it was dismissed with prejudice. (Pet-App. 22–24.)

In short, the court of appeals correctly concluded, based on current Wisconsin and United States Supreme Court precedent, that the circuit court maintained the authority to enter judgment on the jury's verdict finding McAdory guilty of operating with a restricted controlled substance at his first and only trial and that doing so did not violate his right to be free from double jeopardy. There is no reason for this Court to grant review to reaffirm the same.

That said, the second reason that this Court should deny McAdory's petition is that his case meets none of this Court's criteria for review. This Court grants discretionary review "only when special and important reasons are presented." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). Cases fitting that description generally present "real and significant question[s] of federal or state constitutional law," "a need for the supreme court to consider establishing, implementing or changing a policy within its authority," opportunities to "develop, clarify or harmonize the law," a conflict in existing legal precedent, or even an issue "ripe for reexamination" due to "the passage of time or changing circumstances." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a)–(e).

Here, McAdory maintains that review is warranted because his petition (1) "raises a real and significant question concerning the prohibition against double jeopardy under the federal and state constitutions," and (2) "offers the Court an opportunity to develop, clarify, and harmonize the law" as it relates to what he labels "the unsettled question of how the State and circuit courts should approach guilty verdicts under more than one subpart of [Wis. Stat.] § 346.63(1)—a situation that frequently occurs, and is certain to recur, in courtrooms statewide." (McAdory's Pet. 10.) And he also later argues that review is necessary to impose upon the State an added burden

of either filing a cross-appeal in such situations, even though the State has suffered no adverse decision, or at least frame additional issues to preserve arguments during a defendant's direct appeal. (McAdory's Pet. 27–31.)

He is wrong in all three respects. To begin, McAdory's case does not present a real or significant question concerning the constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy—or at least not an *unanswered* question. As the court of appeals accurately observed, the United States Supreme Court has interpreted the Double Jeopardy Clause as establishing only three prohibited practices, none of which occurred in McAdory's case. (Pet-App. 21.) While McAdory disagrees with the court's assessment, his arguments fail to negate the court of appeals' aptly supported conclusion that none of the circuit court's actions subjected him to any of the practices barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause.

As for McAdory's proffered opportunity to develop the law to define how circuit courts should effectuate the single-conviction goal of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c), the court of appeals has now already provided that guidance. It recognized that what occurred in McAdory's case complied with state statute and existing state precedent. (Pet-App. 10–13.) While McAdory is correct that there may be a "better solution" to the problem tackled by the court of appeals, he fails to show a need for this Court to establish that procedure in this case. And more to the point, he fails to explain why his proffered practice of "staying" proceedings surrounding those charges that do not result in a judgment and sentencing is the only proper approach or that it enjoys any support under Wisconsin law. (McAdory's Pet. 21.)

Finally, this Court should summarily reject McAdory's pitch to require that the State file prophylactic cross-appeals or preserve in its response brief defending against a criminal defendant's direct appeal any and all issues that *might* prove relevant at some future proceeding. (McAdory's Pet. 27–31.)

But the State had no reason to cross-appeal from McAdory's original judgment of conviction because it was not seeking to modify the judgment. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.10(2)(b). Rather, the State tried to defend McAdory's OWI conviction on appeal, albeit unsuccessfully, and not until this Court released its decision reversing McAdory's OWI conviction did the State even suffer an adverse decision upon which it could bring an appeal. Wis. Stat. § 974.05(1)(a) (authorizing the State to appeal from a "[f]inal order or judgment adverse to the state"). There is simply no tenable reason to adopt McAdory's proposed rule requiring the State to file futile cross-appeals or pursue hypothetical appellate arguments for fear that certain future arguments raised in the circuit court may be deemed forfeited.

Still, should this Court disagree and grant review, the State will ask that this Court overrule *Bastian* because it misinterpreted Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c), prompting one of the central problems underlying McAdory's appeal. To that point, while the State opposes most of McAdory's argument, he is correct in one critical respect: *Bastian* read into Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) a requirement that the legislature did not impose, namely that all but one of a defendant's charges must be *dismissed* if he is ultimately found guilty of more than one charge listed in the statute that arises from the same incident. (McAdory's Pet. 19–20.) However, that is not what the statute says, and *Bastian* provided no basis for interpreting the statute in such a way.

Moreover, problems with *Bastian* do not end with its lacking analysis and rationale. As long as it remains good law, *Bastian* will continue to invite in other cases across the state the procedural posture underlying this appeal. Indeed, but for *Bastian*, the State would have had no reason to dismiss McAdory's RCS charge following his trial, and as a result, a central question underlying this appeal—whether the circuit court could reinstate McAdory's dismissed RCS charge and

enter judgment on the jury's verdict—never would have come to fruition.

Perhaps worst of all, *Bastian* hinders the legislature's goal of "the vigorous prosecution of" those offenses for which the jury found McAdory guilty. Wis. Stat. § 967.055(1)(a). To be clear, the legislature likely never could have foreseen that Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) might someday bar the State from retrying a defendant for crimes that a jury found him guilty of committing, all because State failed to predict that the defendant may someday establish reversable error relevant to one of those charges but not others. Neither the legislature nor the court of appeals likely intended for this result, yet as long as *Bastian* remains good law, the State will be forced to rely on blind luck in deciding which charge(s) to dismiss at the end of a defendant's trial, lest it be barred from reviving those same charges if a defendant prevails on future appeal.

In sum, the State maintains that the court of appeals' decision is sound and that further review is unwarranted, but should this Court disagree, the State continues to preserve its argument that *Bastian* was wrongly decided and should be overruled if this Court grants McAdory's petition for review.

Case 2023AP000645

This Court should deny McAdory's petition for review. Dated this 13th day of June 2024.

Respectfully submitted,

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

Filed 06-13-2024

Electronically signed by:

John W. Kellis JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7081 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kellisjw@doj.state.wi.us

### FORM AND LENGTH CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that this response conforms to the rules contained in Wis. Stat. §§ (Rules) 809.19(8)(b), (bm) and 809.62(4) for a response produced with a proportional serif font. The length of this response is 1,784 words.

Dated this 13th day of June 2024.

Electronically signed by:

<u>John W. Kellis</u> JOHN W. KELLIS